THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Circuit Court

L. Casey Manning, Judge

---

---

Case No. 2015-CP-40-05106  
Appellate Case No. 2016-002043

---

**RECEIVED**

JUL 03 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Pearline Williams.....Respondent

v.

Larita Hipp and Michelle Masaryk..... Defendants,

Of Whom Michelle Masaryk is the.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

William H. Bowman, III (SC Bar No. 810)  
Robert P. Wood (SC Bar No. 6206)  
ROGERS TOWNSEND & THOMAS, PC  
1221 Main Street, 14<sup>th</sup> Floor (29201)  
Post Office Box 100200  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200  
(803) 771-7900  
Bo.Bowman@rtt-law.com

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT.
- A. The Lower Court, in three intertwined and connected ways, abused its discretion when it
- i. applied an erroneous legal and factual interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-710 not supported by the applicable common law precedent of *Caldwell v. Wiquist* and other state and federal appellate opinions, in violation of the doctrine of *stare decisis*;
  - ii. applied an erroneous legal interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-710 not supported by the plain, ordinary, and unambiguous text of the statute; and
  - iii. made factual conclusions not supported by admissible evidence and which prejudiced the Appellant.
- B. The Lower Court abused its discretion and thus violated Appellant's Constitutional due process rights when it failed to apply state and federal appellate opinions providing precedent for proper and meaningful service by publication, again in violation of doctrine of *stare decisis*.
- II. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ENTERING TWO DIFFERENT MONEY JUDGMENTS AGAINST APPELLANT, CAUSING PREJUDICE TO APPELLANT BY CHOOSING, UNDER THE GUISE OF *NUNC PRO TUNC*, THE GREATER OF THE TWO.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

This is an appeal of the lower court's denial of Appellant's Motion to Set Aside a Default Judgment. Respondent Williams filed a Summons and Complaint in Richland County on August 20, 2015, alleging personal injury and property damage as a result of the alleged combined

---

<sup>1</sup> Although this Statement of the Case does contain reference to ultimately "contested matters," the timeline and procedure of the matter is taken directly from the Richland County Court file. However, in not arguing the contested matters in this section, Appellant does not waive her exception to or appeal of any procedural matters detailed; the fact such procedural matters occurred does not, as argued, make them legally correct.

negligence of Appellant Masaryk and the co-defendant, Larita Hipp. (R.pp. 20-24.) Ms. Hipp is a not a party to this appeal, having settled with the Respondent early in the proceedings. (R.pp. 86, ll. 9-12; p. 91, ll. 8-12.) After filing her Summons and Complaint, Respondent engaged a private process server to attempt personal service on Appellant. On November 13, 2015, Respondent's attorney filed an Affidavit requesting service by publication. (R.p. 26) An Affidavit of Non-Service executed by the process server, which memorialized the attempt of personal service at Appellant's 1300 Longcreek Dr., Columbia, SC apartment, was filed September 8, 2015. (R.p. 25) An Order for Service by Publication was signed and filed by the Richland County Clerk of Court on November 13, 2015. (R.p. 3)

An Affidavit from the *Columbia Star* was filed December 15, 2015, stating the Notice of Summons filed in Respondent's action was published in the *Columbia Star* on November 27, December 4, and December 11, 2015. (R.p.27.) Thereafter, two almost identical Affidavits of Default were filed by the Respondent on February 26, 2016 and March 8, 2016. (R.p. 28; R.p. 29.) Orders of Default executed by the Court were filed on February 26, 2016 and March 8, 2016. (R.p. 4; R.p. 5.) These Orders were also almost identical.

Notice of the damages hearing was sent by certified mail, regular delivery to Appellant at 1300 Longcreek Dr., Apt. 713, Columbia, SC 29210. (R.p.87, ll. 8 – 18; R.pp. 99 – 102.)

An Order Awarding Damages by default against Appellant was executed by the lower court on March 21, 2016. (R.pp. 6 - 8.) It was file stamped March 21, 2016. This Order sets the amount of damages against Appellant at \$25,000. (R.p. 8.) A second Order Awarding Damages by default against Appellant was executed by the lower court on March 22, 2016. (R.pp. 9 - 11.) It was file stamped on March 23, 2016. This second Order sets the amount of damages at \$45,000, \$20,000 more than in the first Order. (R.pp. 11.)

Finally, a Form 4 Judgment in a Civil Case was executed by the lower court on March 22, 2016. (R.p. 19.) It was file stamped March 28, 2016. This Form 4 sets the amount of damages against Appellant at \$45,000.00.

Appellant filed a Motion and an Amended Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment based on Rule 60(b) SCRP on April 5, 2016 and as Amended on May 5, 2016. (R.pp. 40 - 41; R.pp. 42 - 43.) A hearing on the issues raised in Appellant's Motion and Amended Motion was held June 27, 2016. (R.p. 103.) An Order Denying Appellant's Motions was filed on July 22, 2016. (R.pp.12 - 17.) This Order was received by Appellant's counsel on July 25, 2016. Appellant served a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend and accompanying Memorandum on August 4, 2016. (R.pp. 67 - 82.) An Order denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend was filed on September 14, 2016. (R.p. 18.) Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal September 29, 2016.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The primary issue on appeal is whether Respondent's affidavit of non-service (showing only a single attempt at personal service and no more) provided sufficient information to the Court so it could conclude Respondent had used due diligence to find Appellant in South Carolina so it could allow service by publication. The second issue is whether the entry of separate orders setting damages was arbitrary when the only new information provided to support the second order was that the damages might be subject to an offset.

The following facts, outside of the procedural timeline detailed above, are relevant:

Respondent's attorney's affidavit requesting service by publication was based on a single attempt of personal service. The process server's Affidavit of Non-Service filed September 8, 2016<sup>2</sup> reads:

Service of Process on: Michelle Masaryk

Address of Service: 1300 Longcreek Dr., Apt. 713, Columbia, SC 29210

Date and time of Non-Service: 9-2-2015, 6:19 p.m.

After due and diligent search, undersigned was unable to effect service.

Documents...

Comments: Resident stated, he does not know defendant, his/her whereabouts or contact information. He moved into apartment 6 months ago.

The Affidavit submitted by Respondent's attorney, filed November 13, 2015, contains even less information. It states in relevant part:

... that he is the attorney for the Plaintiff in the above-captioned case, after due diligence, the Defendant cannot be found and that the Defendant is a proper party..., and that this Affidavit is made for the purposes of serving Defendant by publication.

The following facts presented at the damages hearing March 22, 2016 are relevant: One, Respondent had already settled with the defendant Larita Hipp. (R.p. 86, ll. 9-12.) Notice of the damages hearing was sent by certified mail, regular delivery to Respondent at 1300 Longcreek Dr., Apt. 713, Columbia, SC 29210. (R.p. 87, ll. 8-18; R.pp. 99 - 102.) Last, the Respondent's damages request, made orally before the court, was inflated from \$25,000 to \$45,000 on the sole grounds that "There's another defendant in another settlement outside of the 25 [thousand dollars], it's going to be a total judgment. I think there might be some offset. Could I ask the Court award \$40,000." (R.p. 91, ll. 8-18.)

The Affidavits of Ms. Kim Cuervo and the Appellant, Ms. Michelle Masaryk, were filed with Respondent's Memorandum in Support of Amended Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment

---

<sup>2</sup> The process server filed a second Affidavit on June 21, 2016. Its relevancy and admissibility are disputed. Our argument regarding this is found below at footnote 3.

and properly before the lower court. (R.pp. 30 – 34; R.pp. 35 - 37.) Ms. Cuervo was the community manager for The Hollows Apartments, at 1300 Longcreek Dr., when Appellant moved out. (R.p. 30, ¶¶ 1, 2, 3.) Ms. Cuervo’s affidavit shows that Appellant left her forwarding address with the apartment management and that Ms. Cuervo used it to forward a final bill to Appellant at her new Lexington County apartment. (R.p. 30, ¶¶ 5, 6; R.p. 31, ¶¶ 7, 9; R.pp. 32 – 34.) More pointedly, the address for the Appellant’s new Lexington County apartment, 101 Saluda Pointe Drive, Apt. 225, Lexington, SC, 29072, was still in The Hollows’ database as of the date of her affidavit, June 8, 2016. (R.p. 31, ¶ 8, R.p. 34.) Ms. Cuervo avers she does not recall anyone coming to the on-site complex office to inquire about how to get in contact with Appellant. (R.p. 31, ¶ 10.)

The Affidavit of Ms. Masaryk (Appellant) confirms she had moved from 1300 Longcreek Drive to 101 Saluda Pointe Drive 28 days before the accident at issue. (R.p. 35, ¶¶ 3, 4, 5.) Appellant avers she completed an online change of address form with the United States Postal Service when she moved. (R.p. 35, ¶¶ 6; R.p. 36, ¶ 9.) Appellant also avers that she left her new contact information with a) The Hollows apartment complex, b) the Saluda Pointe apartment complex, c) her South Carolina employer, Richland District Two/Forest Lake Elementary, d) Time Warner cable company, and e) SCE&G. (R.p. 36, ¶¶ 7, 9, 10, 11, 12; R.p. 37, ¶ 13.) Appellant did in fact receive mail forwarded by the USPS as a result of her change of address registration. (R.p. 35, ¶ 6; R.p. 36, ¶ 10.)

## ARGUMENT

### Standards of Review

The power to set aside a default is exercised within the sound discretion of the trial court whose decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of

law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.

*Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 307, 547 S.E.2d 894, 896 (Ct.App.2001)(citations omitted).

...the trial court's exercise of discretionary power, as well as its judgment as to matters more precisely defined in the law, is subject to appellate review; and [that] the term "abuse of discretion" as used in such cases has no opprobrious implication and means nothing more or less than that the ruling of the trial court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the rights of the appellant, and therefore, in the circumstances, amounted to an error of law.

*Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co.*, 239 S.C. 37, 40, 121 S.E.2d 300, 302 (S.C. 1961).

Similarly, as to the decision to admit or exclude evidence,

The trial judge's decision (as to admission of evidence) will not be reversed on appeal unless it appears he clearly abused his discretion and the objecting party was prejudiced by the decision.

*Seabrook Island Prop. Owners' Ass'n v. Berger*, 365 S.C. 234, 242, 616 S.E.2d 431, 435 (Ct.App. 2005)(parenthetical added).

I. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT.

A. The Lower Court, in three intertwined and connected ways, abused its discretion when it

- i. applied an erroneous legal and factual interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-710 not supported by the applicable common law precedent of *Caldwell v. Wiquist*, 402 S.C. 565, 741 S.E.2d 583(Ct.App. 2013), and other state and federal appellate opinions, in violation of the doctrine of *stare decisis*;
- ii. applied an erroneous legal interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-710 not supported by the plain, ordinary, and unambiguous text of the statute; and
- iii. made factual conclusions not supported by admissible evidence and which prejudiced the Appellant.

S.C. Code § 15-9-710 governs when service by publication may be had. The prefatory language of § 15-9-710 states:

When the person on whom the service of the summons is to be made cannot, after due diligence, be found within the State and (a) that fact appears by affidavit to the satisfaction of the court or judge thereof, the clerk of court of common pleas, the master, or the probate judge of the county in which the case is pending and (b) it in like manner appears that a cause of action exists against the defendant in respect to whom the service is to be made or that he is a proper party to an action relating to real property in this State, the court, judge, clerk, master, or judge of probate may grant an order that the service be made by publication of the summons in any one or more of the following cases: ... (Emphasis added.)

To emphasize, for a court to grant an order for service by publication, the party seeking such an order must show the court the facts supporting his claim that the person to be served cannot, after due diligence, be found within South Carolina.

Despite the plain language of the statute and the absence of a showing of diligence, the Lower Court (Judge Manning) found that “Plaintiff’s affidavit of non-service on Defendant includes all necessary facts concerning the process server’s efforts to locate the Defendant and supports a finding of due diligence by the process server in his attempts to locate Defendant in South Carolina.” (R.p. 18, ¶ 2.) The Lower Court also specifically held, “Plaintiff’s affidavit requesting service by publication provided documentation of due diligence and complied with all the statutory requirements set forth in S.C. Code §15-9-740” and “S.C. Code §15-9-710.” (R.p. 18, ¶¶ 3 & 6.)

Of course, we submit that the record belies that finding, since the record provides no facts at all to support a finding that Respondent exercised any diligence in attempting to locate and serve the Appellant within South Carolina, complied with S.C. Code §15-9-710 or S.C. Code §15-9-740 (the service-by-publication statutes), properly obtained an Order of Publication, or afforded Appellant with her Constitutional right to due process. U.S. Const. art. XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3.

The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature.” *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457,

459 (2007). “When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.” *Id.* In interpreting a statute, “[w]ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.” *Id.* at 499, 640 S.E.2d at 459. Further, “the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper County*, 368 S.C.388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006). Accordingly, we “read the statute as a whole” and “should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute. *CFRE, L.L.C. v. Greenville County Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011).

*Centex Intern., Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 406 S.C. 132, 139, 750 S.E.2d 65, 69 (S.C. 2013)(citations in original).

The Lower Court abused its discretion when it in essence re-wrote Section 15-9-710 to read: “... [defendant] cannot, after due diligence, be found *at the last known address listed in the traffic report or on the defendant's driver's license, ....*” The process server’s affidavit shows she limited her initial (pre-service-by-publication request) due diligence search for Ms. Masaryk to her last known address. The process server, in the only factual paperwork filed with the Richland County Clerk of Court by November 2015, states only that he went only to Ms. Masaryk's address as it appeared on the accident report.

Recognizing the affidavit of service was insufficient, Respondent filed a second affidavit of the process server after the order of publication was entered. Even if this second affidavit were admissible evidence, which Ms. Masaryk maintains it is not<sup>3</sup>, the information provided therein shows only that his Google search allegedly left him with no information other than Ms.

---

<sup>3</sup> Ms. Masaryk objects and takes exception to the Affidavit of the process server filed June 21, 2016. It is an attempt to retroactively supplement the information that might have been appropriate to include in Respondent’s Affidavits filed in support of the request for service by publication back in November 2015. However, not only is the information still inadequate under the *Caldwell* standards (quality of attempted service means as much, and in some instances, more than quantity), but the lower court’s inclusion of it as an actual finding of fact relevant to the determination of whether Respondent’s Affidavit’s complied with the law back in November 2015 led the lower court to factual findings that are without evidentiary support. This is an abuse of discretion that was manifestly prejudicial to the Appellant.

Masaryk's last known address. So, even with this late-created evidence, Respondent is still left with one effort to serve Appellant prior to requesting service by publication, solely at her last known address.

Due diligence aside, S.C. Code §15-9-710 obviously contemplates by its plain and literal wording a State-wide search *before* asking the court for an order of publication.

The case of *Caldwell v. Wiquist*, 402 S.C. 565, 741 S.E.2d 583 (Ct.App. 2013), is highly instructive. There the Court of Appeals detailed Supreme Court opinions that required strict compliance (that is, plain and ordinary, but literal construction of) with the service-by-publication statutes. *See, pp. 11-12 below; Caldwell*, 402 S.C. at 572, 741 S.E.2d at 587. The Lower Court's interpretation of S.C. Code §15-9-710 that allows a plaintiff to limit her initial (pre-service-by-publication request) search for a defendant to that person's last known address erroneously fails to apply and follow the doctrine of *stare decisis* as it applies specifically to statutes and legislative intent:

The doctrine of *stare decisis* enjoys particular efficacy in the context of challenges concerning the construction of statutes and determination of legislative intent. As noted by the Court:

It is manifestly in the public interest that the law remain permanently settled. Especially is this so in the construction of statutes, for if any change in the statutory law is desired, the General Assembly may readily accomplish it.

*Wehle v. South Carolina Retirement System*, 363 S.C. 394, 403, 611 S.E.2d 240, 244 (S.C. 2005), *quoting*, *Powers v. Powers*, 239 S.C. 423, 427, 123 S.E.2d 646, 647 (S.C. 1962).

The Lower Court, in denying Appellant's motions, not only did not use the plain and ordinary language of the specific statute(s), but it also did not follow the case law interpreting how statutes are to be construed by our courts in general. This is an error of law.

The Lower Court also disregarded the doctrine of *stare decisis* as it applies to intermediate appellate opinions specifically. *Caldwell* is a published South Carolina Court of

Appeals opinion from 2013 that has not been negatively treated in any way by the South Carolina Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. As the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court stated in *In re Kingsmore*,

The Court of Appeals decision was effective when it was entered, and a decision by an intermediate appellate court in South Carolina is the law of South Carolina unless that decision is subsequently reversed or overruled.

*In re Kingsmore*, 295 B.R. 812, 816-817 (S.C. Bnkruptcy 2002), *citing Hamby v. Hamby*, 315 S.C. 518, 445 S.E.2d 656, 657 (S.C. 1994).

The Lower Court committed an error of law in not applying the plain, ordinary, and unambiguous language of S.C. Code §15-9-710 and an error of law in not following the precedent of *Caldwell*. These abuses of discretion require that the Lower Court's refusal to set aside of the default judgment be reversed.

The opinion of *Caldwell* is not only applicable to Appellant's legal arguments: It is so parallel with this appeal in the nature and quality of its facts <sup>4</sup> that it is controlling precedent as well.

The *Caldwell* Court held expressly that an affidavit requesting service by publication that fails to support with facts its statement that the sought-after defendant could not be located within the State after alleged due diligence, constitutes a jurisdictional failure to comply with the requirements of the statute, rendering the resulting default judgment void. *Caldwell*, 402 S.C. 565, 741 S.E.2d 583 (Ct.App. 2013).

Mr. and Mrs. Caldwell each filed a Summons and Complaint in Beaufort County alleging property damage and personal injury sustained in a motor vehicle accident the proximate cause of which allegedly was Wiquist's negligence. The Caldwells delivered the Summonses and

---

<sup>4</sup> *Caldwell* so closely parallel in substance to those of this matter that we have prepared a chart showing how easily one can be exchanged for the other. *See* Appendix A to this Brief.

Complaints (one for each plaintiff) to the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department for service upon Wiquist. *Id.*, 402 S.C. at 568, 741 S.E.2d at 585. The Sheriff's Department thereafter "executed affidavits of non-service on Wiquist at her last known address that was listed on the traffic collision report, providing the explanation: "ADDRESS VACANT." *Id.* (Emphasis added.) The record in *Caldwell* further showed that the "Caldwells did not attempt to serve Wiquist with the summonses and complaints by mail directed to the address for Wiquist that was listed on the traffic collision report." *Id.*

The Caldwells then filed affidavits requesting service by publication, and the Clerk of Court for Beaufort County entered orders for service by publication. Affidavits were later filed stating that the required notice was published in the local newspapers, and motions for default judgments and default hearings followed. Default judgments and damages were entered in favor of the Caldwells. Wiquist received notice of the default hearings after the mailed notice of the hearings was forwarded to her then-current address by the US Postal Service. *Id.*, 402 S.C. at 568 - 569, 741 S.E.2d at 585.

Wiquist argued the orders of service by publication did not comply with S.C. Code §15-9-740 (companion statute also addressing service by publication). The Court of Appeals, in agreeing the Caldwells failed to comply with the mandatory requirements of the service-by-publication statutes, recognized and acknowledged it has traditionally been held that "where a party contests the validity of an order of publication based on a lack of diligence in attempting to locate the party, ... the trial court is 'without authority to overrule the finding of the clerk of court.'" *Id.*, 402 S.C. at 569, 741 S.E.2d at 585 – 586 (citation omitted). The Court, however, distinguished *Caldwell* from other opinions, noting that in those cases, the affidavits requesting service by publication "included at least *some* facts concerning efforts to locate the defendant" in

the State of South Carolina. *Id.*, 402 S.C. at 570, 741 S.E.2d at 586 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals then analyzed the affidavits requesting service by publication filed by the Caldwells to demonstrate their deficiencies.

First, the Caldwells' affidavits stated: "The Defendant who is a non-resident of Beaufort County, South Carolina, cannot be served a copy of the Summons in Beaufort County, and it is necessary to serve her by publication." *Id.*, 402 S.C. at 571, 741 S.E.2d at 587. Second, the affidavits requesting service by publication did not contain any statements<sup>5</sup> regarding due diligence undertaken to find the defendant in the State of South Carolina, only in the county of Beaufort. *Id.* As a result of these deficiencies in the affidavits requesting service by publication, the Court of Appeals found that the Caldwells' affidavits were "facially defective" under S.C. Code § 15-9-710. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals then analyzed several South Carolina opinions requiring strict compliance with publication statutes in order for service by publication to be valid.<sup>6</sup> These opinions include *Riker v. Vaughn*, 23 S.C.187, 189 (1885)(South Carolina Supreme Court finds failure of the plaintiff to secure an order for service by publication, the only statutory method upon which a non-resident minor could be made a party defendant, rendered service fatally

---

<sup>5</sup> The Lower Court's Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend seems to state that, because Respondent's process server's affidavit of non-service included the phrase "due diligence," her factual situation is so markedly different from the *Caldwell* opinion (where the phrase was never used) that it is not only distinguishable, it is controlling. The Order also states that the *Caldwell* court overturned the default judgment "due to the Plaintiffs' failure to state any facts regarding service and due diligence." Both of these statements are erroneous.

<sup>6</sup> The Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals have consistently held that strict compliance with statutory requirements is a condition precedent necessary for jurisdiction (the power of a court to grant or deny a requested relief) to attach. *See, for example, Criterion v. Hoffman*, 258 S.C. 282, 188 S.E.2d 459 (S.C.1972), for an analysis and holding that procedural requirements prescribed by uninsured motorist statute are mandatory, and strict compliance with those requirements is a prerequisite to recovery.

incomplete, even though the minor defendant acknowledged service); *Du Bose v. Du Bose*, 90 S.C. 87, 89, 72 S.E. 645, 646 (1991)(South Carolina Supreme Court finds order of publication was invalid because it was not signed by the clerk on the front as required by the publication statute, noting the “rule that the statutory requirements as to constructive service by publication must be strictly carried out”)(emphasis added.); and *Ray v. Pilot Fire Ins. Co.*, 128 S.C. 323, 324, 121 S.E. 779, 779-780 (1924)(South Carolina Supreme Court finds affidavit requesting service by publication was “fatally defective, under the North Carolina law, on its face, in that it [did] not show that due diligence was used to find the defendant” within the state). The Court of Appeals also reviewed opinions of other jurisdictions, including North Carolina, Florida, Maryland, Mississippi, and California, which all held that not only was strict compliance with statutes governing service by publication and due diligence required, but that “[a]ffidavits devoid of averments of facts showing that due diligence was exercised to make service have consistently been held to be insufficient, and orders for service by publication based (upon such affidavits) have uniformly been held to have been beyond jurisdiction and void.” *Quoting from, Calvin Mem'l Corp. v. Requa*, 5 Cal.App.3d 345, 85 Cal.Rptr. 107, 113 (1970). The *Caldwell* Court then stated:

While not controlling, we find these cases persuasive. Based on the foregoing, we find the affidavit must include some factual basis upon which the court issuing the order of service by publication can find that the defendant cannot, after due diligence, be found within the state. It is the existence of this factual basis that our appellate courts have found make the order for service by publication unreviewable, absent fraud or collusion. Accordingly, the trial court erred as a matter of law in denying Wiquist’s motions to set aside default judgment because the affidavits requesting service by publication did not meet the statutory requirements, and were therefore, facially defective.

*Caldwell*, 402 S.C. at 574-575, 741 S.E.2d at 588 (emphasis added).<sup>7</sup>

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