THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2015-CP-40-05106  
Appellate Case No. 2016-002043

---

**RECEIVED**

MAY 04 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Pearline Williams ..... Respondent,

v.

Larita Hipp and Michelle Masaryk ..... Defendants,

of whom Michelle Masaryk is the ..... Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Jerry Reardon # 13739  
LAW OFFICE OF JERRY REARDON  
P.O. Box 7464  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 602-5242  
(803) 602-5243 (facsimile)  
jerry@jerryreardonlaw.com

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674  
John S. Nichols # 4210  
BLUESTEIN NICHOLS

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

### **ARGUMENT**

Appellant's first issue attacks the due diligence finding in the order allowing service by publication. This Court should affirm because longstanding precedents explain an order allowing service by publication is final unless there is fraud, collusion, or a defect appearing on "the face of the record." None of those apply here. Fraud and collusion are not even alleged, and there is no facial defect given the Supreme Court's holding that conclusory affidavits are sufficient.

The second issue arises out of the circuit court mistakenly signing and entering two judgments against the defaulting defendant. The law allows a court to amend a judgment on

its own initiative as long as the amendment is timely. The second judgment acted as a timely amendment, and the record plainly discloses the court intended the second judgment to be the proper judgment. Here again, this Court should affirm.

**I. The circuit court correctly refused to set aside the default judgment and the order allowing service by publication because there was no evidence of fraud or collusion and there was no defect on “the face of the record.”**

Service by publication is authorized by section 15-9-710 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. \_\_\_\_). The statute’s third subsection allows service by publication “when the defendant is a resident of this State and after a diligent search cannot be found.”

An order authorizing service by publication may be issued by a circuit judge, a master, a probate judge, or the clerk of the court of common pleas. *Id.* The statute explains a party is to support a request for such an order with affidavits. See § 15-9-710(a).

**a. Once the issuing officer is satisfied, the decision ordering service by publication is final absent fraud or collusion.**

In *Wachovia v. Player*, the Supreme Court said there was no support for the argument that the court could review whether the process server had used due diligence. 341 S.C. 424, 429, 535 S.E.2d 128, 130 (2000). In *Montgomery v. Mullins*, this Court noted a trial court cannot overrule the issuing officer’s decision that the defaulting party could not be found. 325 S.C. 500, 506, 480 S.E.2d 467, 470 (Ct. App. 1997). In *Ingle v. Whitlock*, the Supreme Court noted the statute does not specify the facts or quantity of evidence necessary to satisfy the officer who orders publication. 282 S.C. 391, 392, 318 S.E.2d 367, 368 (1984). Absent fraud or collusion, the due diligence finding sticks.

The key cases articulating this rule are *Yarbrough v. Collins* and *Yates v. Gridley*. *Yates* is the older of the two, and *Yarbrough* explains *Yates* rejected the argument that a publication affidavit is insufficient if it contains “only conclusory statements.” *Yarbrough*, 293 S.C. 290, 292, 360 S.E.2d 300, 301 (1987) (citing *Yates*, 16 S.C. 496, 500 (1882)). The circumstances in *Yarbrough* echo the circumstances presented here: The dispute was whether the order authorizing service by publication was invalid if the supporting affidavit “failed to set forth any facts showing that due diligence had, in fact, been exercised.” *Yarbrough*, 293 S.C. at 292, 360 S.E.2d at 301. The Supreme Court held it was error to consider the “sufficiency” of the supporting affidavits, additionally noting that even when the order of publication contains factual statements that are different from the supporting affidavit, those differences will not necessarily constitute a jurisdictional defect supporting a collateral attack on the judgment. *Id.* at 293, 360 S.E.2d at 301.

These decisions preclude any attack on the sufficiency of the due diligence finding in the order authorizing Appellant’s service by publication. There is no allegation the order was procured by fraud or collusion. As was true in *Player*, *Yarbrough*, and *Montgomery*, Appellant’s basic argument is that if Respondent had tried harder, Respondent would have found her. The circuit court does not have the power to review this sort of claim. Absent fraud or collusion, the due diligence finding stands.

**b. A court will refuse to enforce a judgment if a defect appears on the face of the record, but there is no defect here.**

This Court’s decision in *Caldwell v. Wiquist* is governed by a different principle. The court presumes that what should have been done *was* in fact done, but a court will refuse to

enforce a judgment if the lack of jurisdiction for the judgment “appears on the face of the record.” The facial deficiency in *Caldwell* related to the defaulting defendant’s county of residence: The affidavit disclosed the extent of attempted service was that the Beaufort County Sheriff’s department had attempted to serve a non-Beaufort County Resident inside Beaufort County. 402 S.C. 565, 571, 741 S.E.2d 583, 587 (Ct. App. 2013). This Court explained the affidavits were defective “because they state the Caldwells tried to serve a non-resident of Beaufort County only in Beaufort County.” *Id.* at 571, 741 S.E.2d at 587. That was a legal deficiency apparent on the record’s surface.

An early recognition of this principle appeared in *Fouche v. Royal Indemnity Company*. See 217 S.C. 147, 155, 60 S.E.2d 73, 76 (1950). The principle was also acknowledged in *Yarbrough* when the Supreme Court noted factual inconsistencies do not always constitute jurisdictional defects. 293 S.C. at 293, 360 S.E.2d at 301.

This Court applied this principle in *Miles v. Lee* and *Belle Hall Plantation Homeowner’s Association v. Murray*. Both cases involved situations where the affidavit indicated the plaintiff attempted to serve someone *other than* the person to be served by publication. *Belle Hall*, Op. No. 5467 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 8, 2017) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 6 at 49); *Miles*, 319 S.C. 271, 460 S.E.2d 423 (Ct. App. 1995). The deficiency in those instances is obvious—the affidavits “purport[] to show due diligence in ascertaining the whereabouts” of someone who is not the person being served by publication. *Miles*, 319 S.C. at 274, 460 S.E.2d at 425. The plaintiff searched diligently, but for the wrong person.

This case is not like those cases. Appellant’s Richland County address appeared on Appellant’s driver’s license and on the police report. The process server’s affidavit reflects

attempted service at that address. Unlike *Caldwell*, the affidavit does not contain an inconsistency. This affidavit, and the affidavit of Respondent's counsel, attest to a diligent attempt at service. (Weaghtington Aff. of 9/8/15); (Reardon Aff. filed 11/13/15).

It is also worth noting that the order granting service by publication explained a copy of the summons and complaint would be mailed to Appellant's last known address. (11/13/15 Or.) This is required by statute. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-740 (Supp. \_\_\_\_). This Court acknowledged in *Miles* that the court presumes what should have been done was done. 319 S.C. at 274, 460 S.E.2d at 425. Appellant testified by affidavit she received mail forwarded from her former addresses. (Masaryk Aff p.1, ¶6 & p.2, ¶9). Appellant's affidavit does not disclose when (if ever) she changed her address with the Department of Motor Vehicles to an address other than the Richland County address.

The affidavits attest due diligence. This is controlled by *Yarbrough*, not *Caldwell*.

**c. Appellant's due process challenge and her objection to the process server's supplemental affidavit are foreclosed by precedent.**

Appellant argues allowing service by publication violates her right to due process. The Supreme Court addressed the due process clause in *Player*, rejecting the argument that due process required reviewing whether the process server actually exercised due diligence by stating "we perceive no constitutional problem here." 341 S.C. at 429, 535 S.E.2d at 130.

Appellant also argues the circuit court could not consider the process server's supplemental affidavit. See (Weaghtington Aff. of 6/21/16). *Dow v. Bolden* seems to have considered such evidence, noting attorneys for both sides "submitted affidavits in support of their respective contentions." 245 S.C. 321, 324, 140 S.E.2d 473, 474 (1965).

**II. The circuit court correctly treated the second judgment as the proper judgment. The second judgment acted as timely amendment made on the court's initiative and the record establishes this judgment was the intended judgment.**

Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure allows ten (10) days for the court to amend a judgment on its own motion. The Supreme Court has acknowledged this, explaining in *Leviner v. Sonoco Products Company* “the trial judge has only ten days from entry of judgment to alter or amend an earlier order on his own initiative absent a ‘reservation’ of jurisdiction in the form order.” 339 S.C. 492, 494, 530 S.E.2d 127, 128 (2000).

The circuit court issued one judgment on March 21, 2016 and a second judgment on March 23, 2016. The date of the March 21 judgment appears to be inaccurate given that the hearing transcript and the order itself indicate the damages hearing occurred the next day—March 22. See (3/22/16 Hr’g Tr.pp.6-8) and (3/21/16 Or.). That oddity aside, the March 23 judgment constitutes a timely amended judgment under Rule 59 and *Leviner*.